IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No.

(Court of Appeals No. 30546-5-III)

THELMA, KARL, LORI, and KARIN KLOSTER,

III. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Thelma, Karl, Lori and Karin Kloster (Klosters), appellants/cross-respondents below, petition for review of the court of appeals' decision designated in Part IV of this petition.

This case presents several issues of first impression involving title insurance, liability of title insurer's agents, title, and liability of developers, sellers and brokers. The court of appeals' decision conflicts with many of this court's decisions and runs counter to other court of appeals' decisions.

The record shows that the Klosters purchased an undeveloped lot in 2005 in a surveyed subdivision, the plat for which was recorded in Klickitat County in 1981. An easement, which was shown on the recorded plat and which provided access over the adjoining property, was never recorded by the developer. Consequently, the Klosters did not acquire the legal access to their lot to which they are entitled.

This court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4) to determine: 1) whether there is coverage for the unrecorded access easement of record under the *undefined* access coverage of the standard American Land Title Association (ALTA) title insurance policy and decide who bears responsibility: 2) for the failure to record the access easement shown in the surveyed and recorded plat, and 3) to research title

and discover whether the access easement shown in the surveyed and recorded plat has been properly created. These and the related issues raised by the Klosters are ones of first impression and the resolution of which are of vital importance to all persons and entities who buy or sell real estate and/or insure real estate transactions in Washington.

IV. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

The Klosters seek review of the February 6, 2014, decision of Division III of the Washington Court of Appeals, No. 30546-5-III, upholding judgment against them and reversing the Klosters' judgment against the title insurer ("Opinion," Appendix A).

V. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the *undefined* access coverage in the standard ALTA title insurance policy utilized in most retail land sale transactions in Washington should be interpreted in accord with the understanding of the average person. (*Sears v. Grange Ins. Ass'n*, 111 Wn.2d 636, 638, 762 P.2d 1141 (1988) and *Overton v. Consol. Ins. Co.*, 145 Wn.2d 417, 424, 38 P.3d 322 (2002)).
- 2. Whether the *undefined* access coverage in the standard ALTA title policy is made *illusory* when title insurers and/or their agents follow the industry practice of excluding coverage for all easements of record in the Schedule B exclusions of the standard ALTA title policy. (*Taylor v*.

Shigaki, 84 Wn.App. 723, 730, 930 P.2d 340, (1997), review denied, 132 Wn.2d 1009 and Quadrant Co. v. American States Ins. Co., 154 Wn.2d 165, 184, 110 P.3d 733 (2005)).

- 3. Whether a negligence cause of action exists against a title insurer and its agent for the agent's negligent failure to discover that access easements were not recorded against the adjoining property pursuant to the assumed duty doctrine established in Sheridan v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Company, 3 Wn.2d 423, 439, 100 P.2d 1024 (1940).
- 4. Whether the implicit invocation by the court of appeals of the discredited doctrine of *caveat emptor* applies to retail purchasers of real estate and places a duty on them to search title to determine whether access easements shown on recorded plats are properly created.
- 5. Whether access easements shown on a recorded plat are attributes of title covered by title insurance access coverage and protected by the warranties of title provided by a statutory warranty deed.
- 6. Whether a title insurer's agent is a co-insurer of title when the agency agreement between the title insurer and the agent provides that the agent is responsible for the first \$3,500.00 of loss on every title policy the agent issues in the title insurer's name.
- 7. Whether demonstrated proof of violations of the Unfair Claims
 Settlement Practices Act (UCSPA) by a title insurer is an independent

basis of liability regardless of whether or not coverage exists. (*Rizzuti v. Basin Travel Serv. Of Othello, Inc.*, 125 Wn. App. 602, 615, 105 P.3d 1012 (2005)).

- 8. Whether there is an exception created to this court's ruling in Cambridge Townhomes, LLC v. Pacific Star Roofing, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 475, 482-483, 209 P.3d 863 (2009) when an incorporated sole proprietor's uncorroborated, self-serving testimony directly contradicts the incorporation documents and business records and the sole proprietor thereby escapes successor liability for his prior acts.
- 9. Whether the developer who failed to record the access easements on the adjoining property is a necessary and indispensable party to the underlying lawsuit.

VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Klosters bought Lot 1 of Pacific Rim Estates from defendant/respondent Schenectady Roberts (Roberts). Defendant/respondent Alvin Fred Heany, Jr. (Heany) was the developer. Robert Blades (Blades) was the former business associate of Heany and is the principal of defendant/respondent Pacific Rim Brokers, Inc. (Pacific Rim). Pacific Rim is the incorporation of Pacific Rim Properties, the developer Heany's sole proprietorship. Pacific Rim was Roberts' real estate agent. Defendant/respondent Ameri-Title, Inc. (Ameri-Title) was the local agent for

defendant/respondent/cross-appellant First American Title Insurance Company (First American), the title insurer.

In creating the subdivision in which the Klosters' lot is located, the developer Heany did not record the easement against the adjoining property which provided access as shown on the recorded plat. (Opinion, 4-5). Consequently, the Klosters have been denied legal access since they purchased the lot. As the court of appeals noted, Klickitat County requires a 60-foot width for all easement right-of-ways. (Opinion, 4).

The incorporation of Heany's sole proprietorship, Pacific Rim, acted as the real estate agent on the sale. (Opinion, 5).

The title insurer, First American, instructed its agent, Ameri-Title, to determine whether access easements are properly created before issuing a preliminary commitment and/or a title policy, and if not, to note a special exception in the preliminary commitment and/or the title policy. Ameri-Title did not do so and the fact that the access easement was unrecorded was not discovered until after the Klosters purchased the lot. (Opinion, 8). The Klosters' efforts to use the easement were blocked by the adjoining property owners. (Opinion, 10).

The Klosters brought suit against all involved parties. After pretrial motions, the trial court dismissed most of the Klosters' case and the remainder was tried to a jury. The jury awarded damages to the Klosters

which the trial court imposed against the title insurer. The court of appeals affirmed the dismissals and reversed the judgment that the Klosters obtained against the title insurer.

VII. ARGUMENT

<u>Issue No. 1</u> - *Undefined* Title Insurance Access Coverage

Where a provision in a policy of insurance is capable of two or more meanings or constructions, the meaning or construction that is most favorable to the insured must be employed as this court's insurance interpretation standards provide. (*Shotwell v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 161, 167-168, 588 P.2d 208 (1978)). Unlike the other three standard coverages in the standard ALTA title policy, the access coverage is *admittedly undefined* (Ex 95, RP 773-774) and therefore *ambiguous*. (The Klosters' opening brief, 41-44). One meaning or construction is that the *undefined* access coverage includes the easements by which access is provided. *This is what the average person would understand*. Another meaning or construction is that of First American and the court of appeals whereby the access coverage does not include the easements which provide the access. *This is not what the average person would understand*.

Judge Reynolds, the superior court judge who presided over pretrial matters prior to his retirement, entered an order which contained

his ruling that First American's access coverage is *undefined*, thus *ambiguous*, and must be interpreted in accordance with the understanding of the average person (CP 1296). As more fully explained below, the court of appeals treated this and a related ruling as preliminary and declined to consider these rulings of *ambiguity* in its analysis of title insurance coverage issues. (Opinion, 37-38).

Rather, the court of appeals only considered the later ruling by the judge who assumed control of the litigation after Judge Reynolds retired, Judge Brian Altman. His ruling on the question of ambiguity was based on a sketch attached to the policy and *not* on a theory asserted by any party to this case or validated by Judge Reynolds' previous rulings. Nevertheless, it was the only one considered by the court of appeals. (The Klosters' opening brief, 46-47). The Klosters believe that their interpretation of the *undefined* and *ambiguous* access coverage as validated by Judge Reynolds is correct and provides a basis for granting review. This and the related issue of *illusory* title insurance access coverage are matters of substantial public interest which should be resolved by this court so that real estate buyers and sellers and the real estate industry know what constitutes access and what is covered as access under the standard ALTA title policy. (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4)).

///

<u>Issue No. 2</u> - *Illusory* Title Insurance Access Coverage

Access is most often provided pursuant to recorded easements. On the one hand, access is a specified, enumerated and *undefined* coverage in the standard ALTA title policy, and on the other, the means by which such access is created and exists – easements – are excluded and not covered. This is the basis on which Judge Reynolds granted the Klosters' motion for summary judgment and ruled that First American's title policy access coverage was *ambiguous* as a matter of law and must be interpreted in the Klosters' favor. RP 245-246; CP 1446-1447. The court of appeals acknowledged that the First American title policy excluded coverage for all easements "three times over." (Opinion, 39).

This "three times over" exclusion swallows *all* covered occurrences and makes the *undefined* access coverage under the standard ALTA title policy *illusory*. (*Taylor*, *supra*, 84 Wn.App. 723, 730, 930 P.2d 340, (1997), review denied, 132 Wn.2d 1009 and *Quadrant Co.*, *supra*, 154 Wn.2d 165, 184, 110 P.3d 733 (2005)). In accord with this court's insurance interpretation standards, the *undefined* access coverage in the standard ALTA title policy *must be construed* in accord with the understanding of the average person and provide coverage for all access easements regardless of the Schedule B exclusions in the standard ALTA title policy because the access coverage is *undefined*, *ambiguous* and

illusory.

Inasmuch as the court of appeals failed to address this fundamental flaw in the *undefined* access coverage of the standard ALTA title policy, and did not follow the court of appeals' decision in *Taylor*, *supra*, and this court's decision in *Quadrant*, *supra*, this issue of *undefined* title insurance access coverage and exactly what it covers will vex retail real estate buyers and sellers who face this issue until this court resolves it.

This is an issue of first impression and of undeniable interest to the entire real estate industry. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4)).

<u>Issue No. 3</u> - Negligence Of A Title Insurer's Agent

The court of appeals recognized that the record showed that the title insurer instructed its local agent to determine whether access easements are properly created before issuing a preliminary commitment and/or a title policy, and if not, to note a special exception in the preliminary commitment and/or the title policy. The local agent failed to do so. (Opinion, 8). The court of appeals nevertheless declined to extend *Sheridan*, *supra*, 3 Wn.2d 423, 439, 100 P.2d 1024 (1940) to title insurance because of "remoteness" (Opinion, 31-32) even though this court has held that title insurance is subject to the same legal principles as other insurance. (*Campbell v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.*, 166 Wn.2d 466, 470-471, 209 P.3d 859 (2009)). This court extended the assumed duty doctrine

in other contexts and did not limit its application to a specific type of insurance as the court of appeals did herein. (*Burg v. Shannon & Wilson*, *Inc.*, 110 Wn.App., 798, 808-809, 43 P.3d 526 (2002), and *Brown v. MacPherson's*, *Inc.*, 86 Wn.2d 293, 298-300, 545 P.2d 13 (1975)).

The decision in *Barstad v. Stewart Title Guar. Co.*, 145 Wn.2d 528, 39 P.3d 984 (2002) is not a bar to the extension of a *Sheridan* negligence cause of action to title insurance. Although this court declined in *Barstad* to find a *general* duty of disclosure in preliminary title commitments, it noted that instances may arise when a duty to disclose exists. (*Barstad*, *supra*, 145 Wn.2d at 543-544.) *This is one of those instances*.

This is an issue of first impression and of undeniable interest to the entire real estate industry. The court of appeals' refusal to extend a *Sheridan* negligence cause of action to title insurance appears to conflict not only with this court's decision in *Sheridan*, *supra*, but also with this court's decisions in *Burg*, *supra*, and *Brown*, *supra*. This issue must be resolved by this court. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4)).

Issue No. 4 - Caveat Emptor

The court of appeal implicitly invoked the discredited doctrine of *caveat emptor* when it faulted Karl Kloster for not doing his own title search and discovering that the access easement was not properly recorded

(Opinion, 21) even though the seller gave a statutory warranty deed. The court of appeals' decision is contrary to this court's decision in *Edmondson v. Popchoi*, 172 Wn.2d 272, 283-284, 256 P.3d 1223 (2011) which held that warranties of title in a statutory deed are not waived *even* if the grantee takes title with knowledge of the title defects, citing Foley v. Smith, 14 Wn.App. 285, 292, 539 P.2d 874 (1975). Thus, whether Karl Kloster did or did not discover that the access easement was not properly recorded was irrelevant and not a basis for implicitly invoking the discredited legal doctrine of caveat emptor. (See, Chandler v. State, Office of Ins. Com'r, 141 Wn.App. 639, 659-660, 173 P.3d 275 (2007) which held that caveat emptor does not apply in the context of insurance).

This is especially true when the title insurer's agent failed to determine that the access easement was not properly recorded even though it was specifically tasked to do so by the title insurer *before* issuing the Klosters a title policy. Determining whether the access easement in a recorded subdivision plat was properly recorded is *not* the duty of a retail buyer of a subdivision lot such as Karl Kloster. *It was the assumed duty of First American and Ameri-Title to do so.* (*Sheridan, supra*, 3 Wn.2d 423, 439, 100 P.2d 1024 (1940)). The discredited doctrine of *caveat emptor* cannot be resurrected in the context of real estate title searches.

This is an issue of first impression and of undeniable interest to the

entire real estate industry as well as the legal profession which must be resolved by this court. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4)).

<u>Issue No. 5</u> - Lack Of Recorded Access Is A Title Defect

In *Santos v. Sinclair*, 76 Wn.App. 320, 322, 324-328, 884 P.2d 941 (1994) the court of appeals held that once an easement is shown of record, then it is covered under standard title insurance. The trial court, per Judge Altman, held that the lack of a recorded access easement is a defect in title. The court of appeals reversed Judge Altman's determination, holding that the warranties of title in a statutory warranty deed do not extend to an access easement shown on a recorded plat. (Opinion, 18-19).

Even a property owner abutting a public street has a *vested* right to an easement for reasonable ingress and egress to his property. (*State v. Williams*, 64 Wn.2d 842, 844, 394 P.2d 693 (1964)). A property owner also has a right under the Washington Constitution, Article I, Section 16, of *eminent domain* to obtain such an easement. Recorded access should be an attribute of title protected under a statutory warranty deed and under the *undefined* access coverage of the standard ALTA title policy.

(Edmondson, supra, 172 Wn.2d 272, 283-284, 256 P.3d 1223 (2011)).

In Lawyers Title Ins. Co. v. McKee, 354 S.W.2d 401, 407-408 (Tex.Civ.App., 1962), the Texas court held that whenever an attribute of title is challenged, the title insurer is duty bound to defend regardless of

whether an action is brought against the insured. In this case the Klosters were essentially evicted from their property by the lack of adequate and legally required access and thus do not have full title. Without this access, the Klosters do not have full enjoyment of their land.

This is an issue of first impression and of undeniable interest to the entire real estate industry as well as the legal profession. This is a policy judgment which should be made by this court. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4)).

Issue No. 6 - Title Insurer's Agent As Co-Insurer

Pursuant to the agency agreement between First American and Ameri-Title (Ex 11), Ameri-Title bore responsibility for the first \$3,500.00 of loss on every policy of title insurance which it issued in First American's name and retained 90% of the premium. (Opinion 29-30, RP 662; CP 715-716, Deposition 42, 45).

RCW 48.29.170 exempts licensed title insurance agents from the title insurer's licensing requirements of RCW 48.17.180. These statutes exempt Ameri-Title from the requirement to have its own title insurance license and brought Ameri-Title "under the umbrella of a title insurance company" according to Judge Reynolds. RP 173.

RCW 48.01.040 defines insurance as "a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another or pay a specified amount upon

determinable contingencies." RCW 48.01.050 defines an insurer as including "every person engaged in the business of making contracts of insurance." RCW 48.01.070 defines "person" as any individual, company, insurer, association, organization, reciprocal or inter-insurance exchange, partnership, business trust, or corporation. Ameri-Title qualifies under these definitions.

RCW 48.01.030 specifies that the business of insurance is affected by the public interest and requires that all persons so engaged "must act in good faith, abstain from deception, and practice honesty and equity" in all insurance matters. Based on this and other relevant statutes, the Washington Insurance Commissioner adopted WAC Chapter 284-30, the Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Act - UCSPA.

In addition to qualifying as an insurer under the RCW, Ameri-Title qualified pursuant to the applicable WAC regulations. WAC 284-30-310 defines its scope as applying to all insurers, to all insurance policies and insurance contracts, and non-exclusive in that other acts may also be deemed to be violations of specific provisions of the insurance code or other regulations. WAC 284-30-320 defines insurer as any legal entity "engaged in the business of insurance, authorized or licensed to issue or who issues any insurance policy or insurance contract in this state."

Ameri-Title was engaged in the business of insurance, was authorized and

licensed to issue and did issue insurance policies. Ameri-Title was an insurer as defined by the UCSPA and the RCW.

The trial court, per Judge Reynolds, so held but his successor, Judge Altman, reversed Judge Reynolds' holding and the court of appeals upheld Judge Altman. The court of appeals essentially made a policy decision that in spite of the foregoing statutes and regulations, the obligation to pay the first \$3,500.00 on claims made on policies issued by the agent does not obligate the agent to pay such sums to the insureds. The distinction the court of appeals relied on is that although the agent is licensed to sell its principal's policies, it is not licensed to sell its own policies. (Opinion, 30). However, being jointly liable for the first \$3,500.00 on claims made on policies issued by the agent is no basis for negating that very same joint liability. This argument is a *non-sequitur*. It exonerates the agent from the liability it assumed on becoming an agent.

This is an issue of first impression and of undeniable interest to the real estate industry as well as to the legal profession. This is a policy determination which must be made by this court. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4)).

<u>Issue No. 7</u> - Violations Of UCSPA

The court of appeals held that the Klosters had shown violations of the Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Act - UCSPA - by the title insurer

(Opinion, 35-36) but declined to hold that they were actionable. The court of appeals noted that the Klosters established that First American violated UCSPA in at least two respects by *not* adopting and implementing standards for the prompt investigation of claims and *not* informing or training its employees in UCSPA requirements (Opinion, 35-36). The court of appeals further noted that such violations of UCSPA would also constitute violations of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA - RCW Chapter 19.86).

The court of appeals held that these UCSPA and CPA violations were nevertheless *not* actionable. This is a departure from *Rizzuti*, *supra*, 125 Wn. App. 602, 615, 105 P.3d 1012 (2005) and similar decisions in that such violations are actionable even in the absence of a finding of coverage. This is the first such holding that insurers may ignore the basic requirements of UCSPA without liability, and as such, is a matter of first impression and of general interest to all in the legal community. This determination is contrary to all other court of appeals' decisions and is a policy judgment error which must be corrected on review by this court. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4)).

<u>Issue No. 8</u> - Exception To Successor-In-Interest Liability

The court of appeals acknowledged that the developer is responsible for his failure to record the access easement against the

adjoining property (Opinion, 23-24) as the developer conceded at trial. (RP 566-567). However, the court of appeals did *not* follow this court's decision in *Cambridge Townhomes*, *LLC*, *supra*, 166 Wn.2d 475, 482-483, 209 P.3d 863 (2009). Rather, it held that the successor-in-interest to the developer's sole proprietorship which acted as the broker in the sale of the lot to the Klosters and was responsible for the failure to record the access easements was *not* legally responsible.

As the court of appeals acknowledged, the incorporation and business licensing documents of the developer's sole proprietorship stated that the developer was incorporating *both* his real estate brokerage *and* development businesses. (Opinion, 27). Nevertheless, the court of appeals carved out an unprecedented and unwise exception to successor-in-interest liability based on the developer's uncorroborated testimony that it was only on the drafting attorney's advice that both the real estate brokerage and development businesses were incorporated. (Opinion, 25-27).

The incorporator and present principal of the developer's sole proprietorship, Blades, testified that upon incorporation, the offices, furniture, files and other business possessions of the sole proprietorship were utilized in the incorporated sole proprietorship. (RP 573, 857; CP 892-894, 905-909; Ex 137). There was *no distinction* between the sole proprietorship and its incorporation. Most importantly, the development of

the faulty subdivision was *before* the incorporation of the sole proprietorship and *not after*. The successor-in-interest liability is for what *already* transpired, rather than what *might* transpire in the future.

Whether an incorporated sole proprietorship may escape liability under *Cambridge Townhomes*, *LLC*, *supra*, 166 Wn.2d 475, 482-483, 209 P.3d 863 (2009) based on uncorroborated, self-serving testimony which contradicts the incorporation documentation is a determination which should by made by this court and not an exception created by the court of appeals. This is a policy judgment which must be made by this court on review. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4)).

<u>Issue No. 9</u> - Necessary And Indispensable Party

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