RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 18, 2014, 1:58 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

DORIGINAL.

Supreme Court No. 90385-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THELMA, KARL, LORI, and KARIN KLOSTER,

Petitioners,

V.

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion conflicts with no decisions of this court, the Court of Appeals, or, for that matter, other jurisdictions, which have ruled upon the numerous issues raised by petitioners the Klosters in their Petition for Review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

In their Petition for Review, the Klosters appear to adopt the Court of Appeals' description of the material facts in the case. Klosters' Petition pp. 4-6 (tracking the Court of Appeals' fact description without exception). As the Klosters correctly state, after pretrial motions, the trial court dismissed many of the Klosters' claims and the Court of Appeals affirmed those dismissals.

The Court of Appeals also held that the trial court erred in concluding that the title policy was ambiguous and therefore covered a "defect" in the title caused by the Klosters' inability to use the unrecorded easement on Tract 2. The judgment against First American was reversed. Unpublished Opinion at 42. The Klosters' petition does not seek review of the Court of Appeals' reversal on title policy ambiguity regarding the sketch map. Rather, the Klosters pursue review of other issues, but are unable to establish any basis for review. Their petition should be denied.

II. WHY THE KLOSTERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Klosters' Petition for Review identifies several issues addressed in the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion. With limited exception, the Klosters assert error and then invoke RAP 13.4, arguing that the Court of Appeals' rulings raise matters of substantial public interest. In fact, the Court of Appeals committed no error, as its decision was consistent with the standards of review applied under Washington law without conflict of any decision of the Washington Supreme Court or any other Washington Court of Appeals. Where there is no error, there is no issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

1

A. The Court of Appeals Affirmed the Klosters Had Both Legal and Physical Access to Their Property.

In their petition, the Klosters assert the Court of Appeals erred in not considering an early decision by Judge E. Thompson Reynolds that access coverage under the Klosters' title policy was "undefined" and thus somehow ambiguous. Klosters' Petition pp. 6-7. As explained below, the Klosters' reliance on Judge Reynolds' early decision is unavailing and does not give rise to an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(4).

1. ALTA Insuring Clauses Provide Standard Coverage.

ALTA owner's policies contain "insuring clauses" on the front (or "jacket") of the policy.

The standard insuring clauses state:

SUBJECT TO THE EXCLUSIONS FROM COVERAGE, THE EXCEPTIONS FROM COVERAGE CONTAINED IN SCHEDULE B AND THE CONDITIONS AND STIPULATIONS, FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, a California corporation, herein called the Company, insures, as of Date of Policy shown in Schedule A, against loss or damage, not exceeding the Amount of Insurance stated in Schedule A, sustained or incurred by the insured by reason of:

1. Title to the estate or interest described in Schedule A being vested other than as stated therein;

2. Any defect in or lien or encumbrance on the title;

3. Unmarketability of the title;

4. Lack of a right of access to and from the land.

The Company will also pay the costs, attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in defense of the title, as insured, but only to the extent provided in the Conditions and Stipulations.

Trial Ex. 95 (Klosters' First American Title Policy).

Insuring clause 4 provides coverage against loss or damage by reason of "[l]ack of a right

of access to and from the land." Typically, owners are thus insured against loss or damage

resulting from the lack of a right to access their land from a public road. By its terms, an ALTA

76304352.4 0090147-00090

policy insures against lack of a "right" to access, not lack of physical or practical access. <u>See</u> <u>Magna Enters., Inc. v. Fid. Nat'l Title Ins. Co.</u>, 104 Cal. App. 4th 122, 127 Cal. Rptr. 2d 681, 683-84 (2002) (title policy insures against lack of right to access, not lack of physical or practical access; any other interpretation would be strained and unnatural under policy language insuring against lack of <u>right</u> to access); <u>Krause v. Title & Trust Co. of Fla.</u>, 390 So. 2d 805 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1980) (title policy insures legal access as shown by record, and current owner had no claim under his policy even though the only way to access his land was not passable by ordinary passenger vehicles without substantial amount of clay or rock fill); <u>Gates v. Chi. Title Ins. Co.</u>, 813 S.W.2d 10, 11-12 (Mo. Ct. App. 1991) (insured owner had right of access, even though it was via rough and nearly impassable route, and thus made no case under his title insurance policy).

Accordingly, the Klosters' title policy insured the Klosters' legal access to their property under Insuring Clause 4. As explained below, the Klosters had legal and physical access to their property to a public road across neighboring land to their west. In the Court of Appeals, however, the Klosters claim that Insuring Clause 4 somehow failed to define access, rendering the clause ambiguous. So, they argued, Insuring Clause 4 should be interpreted to also grant coverage of their claim for alternate access over land to the south of the Klosters' parcel.

2. The Klosters Had Legal and Physical Access to Their Property.

The Klosters never disputed they had access to a public road via the south 30 feet of Lot 2 and the east 30 feet of Lots 5, 6, and 7 of Pacific Rim Estates. As the Court of Appeals recognized, the Klosters gained, upon their purchase, both legal and physical access to the land, regardless of the absence of an easement across a neighboring parcel to the south. Unpublished Opinion at 39. Given the Klosters' enjoyment of the 30-foot easement allowing access to their

property, "their claim does not fulfill the policy inclusory language." <u>Id.</u> Insuring Clause 4 under the Klosters' First American title policy was satisfied.

3. Nonetheless, the Klosters Erroneously Rely upon an Early Trial Court Ruling That Access Coverage Under Their Title Policy Was Somehow Ambiguous, Giving Rise to Coverage of Their Claim.

The Klosters rely upon an early ruling by Judge Reynolds that access coverage under their title policy was somehow ambiguous. Klosters' Petition pp. 6-7. Judge Reynolds' ruling, however, in no way specified how the Klosters' claim to alternative access was therefore covered, and this is left unexplained in the Klosters' Petition for Review. Moreover, Judge Reynolds expressly refused in his earlier ruling to find coverage for the alternative access easement, allowing that First American could contest at trial whether the access easement was insured (CP 1304-1305 (First American may contest whether the alternative access easement is insured)). So, Judge Reynolds' ruling could not, on its terms, be applied to grant coverage to the Klosters' access over the northern 30 feet of Tract 2 owned by the Klosters' neighbors to the south.

In any event, the ruling was eventually revised and superseded by more specific findings in later rulings by Judge Robert Altman. By the time of trial, Judge Reynolds' partial ruling was no longer the law of the case, as Judge Altman had identified another sole source of ambiguity in the Klosters' First American title policy.

Accordingly, the Klosters' reliance on an earlier finding of title ambiguity leading to coverage that the Court of Appeals should have considered is erroneous and fails to satisfy any basis for review under RAP 13.4.

B. Access Coverage Under the Klosters' Title Policy Was Not Illusory.

The Klosters assert that the Court of Appeals erred in its analysis of the First American policy's exclusion of coverage for specific easements. <u>Id.</u> pp. 8-9. In its Unpublished Opinion,

the Court of Appeals correctly identified Schedule B as excluding from coverage specific easements, including the unrecorded easement on the northern 30 feet of Tract 2 the Klosters had claimed was covered under their policy. Unpublished Opinion at 39-40. This included any easements purportedly shown on the partial sketch map appended to the Klosters' title policy. Indeed, as the Court of Appeals recognized, the Klosters' own testimony acknowledged (1) the title policy exclusions, including for the alternative access they sought, and (2) that the sketch map appended to the policy contained a disclaimer stating that the map was provided as a courtesy and did not constitute a part of the title policy. Id, at 40.

In their petition, the Klosters appear to argue that, in some way, access coverage, because it must be construed in accordance with the understanding of the average person, must be for all access easements regardless of the Schedule B exclusions because access coverage under the policy is "undefined, ambiguous and illusory." Klosters' Petition pp. 8-9. Still, the Klosters refuse to explain how access coverage is "undefined" and how it is ambiguous as applied by Judge Altman and the Court of Appeals, thereby rendered "illusory." The Klosters fail to establish any basis for review under RAP 13.4 in their failure to explain.

C. There Is No Evidence That AmeriTitle Undertook Any Duty to the Klosters Beyond Issuing a Preliminary Commitment for Title Insurance.

In their petition, the Klosters cite no evidence that AmeriTitle agreed with the Klosters to undertake any duty beyond issuing a preliminary commitment for title insurance. As the Klosters concede, a preliminary commitment for title insurance is an offer to insure and not a representation of the condition of title. <u>Barstad v. Stewart Title Guar. Co.</u>, 145 Wn.2d 528, 536, 39 P.3d 984 (2002). As the Court of Appeals affirmed, because the preliminary commitment AmeriTitle issued was not an abstract of title, AmeriTitle had no duty to inform the Klosters that one of the easements on the attached short plat map had not been recorded. Moreover, the preliminary commitment specifically excluded from coverage any easement shown on the short

76304352,4 0090147-00090

plat map. Unpublished Opinion at 31. There is no basis to impute any duty of AmeriTitle to the Klosters with regard to the unrecorded easement.

Once again, the Klosters erroneously assert error in the Court of Appeals as the basis for review under RAP 13.4. There is no substantial public interest in review of the Court of Appeals' correct decision that is consistent with Washington law.

D. First American's Agent, AmeriTitle, Was Not a Co-Insurer as a Matter of Law.

The trial court ruled that the Klosters could not assert a claim against AmeriTitle as an insurer, and therefore all claims on that basis were dismissed, including claims for breach of contract, breach of the duty to defend and indemnify, bad faith, and violations of the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"). The Court of Appeals affirmed. <u>Id.</u> at 30.

In their Petition for Review, the Klosters make the same argument that failed below. The Klosters contend that because First American and AmeriTitle entered into an agency agreement requiring AmeriTitle to indemnify First American for the first \$3,500 of loss on any policy of title insurance issued, AmeriTitle somehow becomes an insurer owing a duty to indemnify the Klosters. Klosters' Petition pp. 13-15. The Klosters rely upon both the Washington Insurance Code and its attendant regulations.

The Klosters' failed argument is frivolous. There is no evidence that AmeriTitle made any representation to the Klosters agreeing to indemnify them for any loss related to the title policy AmeriTitle issued on behalf of First American. AmeriTitle was First American's duly appointed agent and issued a preliminary commitment and a title policy on behalf of First American in accordance with the scope of its authority. AmeriTitle's business arrangement with First American was of no benefit to the Klosters. First American remained solely liable to the Klosters for any covered loss.

E. The Klosters' Title Policy Claim Was Handled Promptly and Properly Denied.

In their Petition for Review, the Klosters claim that technical violations of the Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Act are actionable, even in the absence of any demonstrated harm to the insured. <u>Id.</u> p. 16. In arguing the Court of Appeals departed from Washington law, the Klosters rely upon <u>Rizzuti v. Basin Travel Service of Othello, Inc.</u>, 125 Wn. App. 602, 105 P.3d 1012 (2005).

The Klosters' reliance is unfounded. <u>Rizzuti</u> does not hold that a first party insured need not establish with specific evidence that they were harmed by the insurer's bad faith acts. In fact, <u>Rizzuti</u> held just the opposite, consistent with Washington law that, as an element of every bad faith or CPA action, a first party insured must establish it was harmed by the insurer's bad faith acts. <u>Rizzuti</u>, 125 Wn. App. at 620-21; <u>Coventry Assocs. v. Am. States Ins. Co.</u>, 136 Wn.2d 269, 276, 961 P.2d 933 (1998) (to maintain a cause of action based on insurer's bad faith or CPA violation, the insured must establish it was harmed).

As the Court of Appeals affirmed, the Klosters failed to present any evidence of any delay in First American's investigation, or any other action First American took that harmed the Klosters, notwithstanding denial of their title policy claim. Unpublished Opinion at 36.

III. CONCLUSION

This court should deny the Klosters' Petition for Review.